
Principal Investigators (PI)
and other Key Personnel
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P R E S E N T E D  B Y

Jenny C. Servo, Ph.D.,  Dawnbreaker  



Agenda
• Key Dates
• Evaluation Criteria
• Principal Investigator Requirements
• Labor rates
• Key Personnel – Covered Personnel
• Subcontractors and Consultants
• Technical and Business Assistance (TABA)
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Week of December 8
We are currently in the Pre-Solicitation Period (ends 12/11)
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The SAM registration process takes 4 weeks to complete

Week of Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday

Nov 24… Check or Start SAM registration process; Review Topics; Contact  the Technical Point of Contact,
 if you have technical questions; if new to SBIR apply for mentoring support on DHS Phase 0 website

Dec 1… Review elements of the DHS proposal submission package. Review the evaluation criteria on page 15 
of the pre-solicitation. Review guidelines for the technical proposal. Conduct lit review and draft 
Section 1 Technical Proposal. If you need support, register for mentoring

Dec 8…. Draft Technical Objectives and Work Plan; Consider potential team, PI  subcontractors and budget. 
Secure feedback on what you have written. If you need support, register for mentoring

Dec 15... DHS Solicitation 
released 12/17

Dec 22… Christmas Day 12/25, 
Hanukkah starts

Kwanzaa
starts

Dec 29… New Years 12/31 New Years Day 
observed 1/1

Jan. 5 Solicitation 
question 
deadline 1/6

Q&A posted 
on SAM.gov
1/10

Jan. 12

Jan. 19 Proposals due 
Jan 21, 1:00 PM 
ET
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Proposal Evaluation Criteria
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(1) Technical Merit 
• the soundness, technical merit, and innovation of the 

proposed approach and its incremental progress toward topic 
or subtopic solution.

(2) Staff Qualifications and Capability 
• the qualifications of the proposed principal investigator, key 

personnel, supporting staff, and consultants. Qualifications 
include the ability to perform the research and development.

(3) Potential for Commercialization
• the potential for commercial application, either in the 

Government or private sector, and the benefits expected to 
accrue from this commercialization.

(4) Cost/Price 
• The reasonableness of the cost proposal. The evaluation of 

cost/price will include whether the level of effort and other 
direct costs are appropriate for the proposed work.

Proposers should write to the evaluation criteria



Principal Investigator (PI) Role

“The one individual designated by the Offeror to 
provide the scientific and technical direction to a 
project supported by the funding agreement.”

5

See Page B2 in the Pre-solicitation



PI Time Commitment
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“For both Phase I and Phase II, the primary 
employment of the principal investigator must be 
with the Offeror at the time of the award and 
during contract performance.

Primary employment means that more than 
one‐half of the principal investigator’s time is 
spent in the employ of the Offeror. This 
precludes full‐time employment with another 
organization. ”

  See Page 3 of Pre-solicitation



Do I include a resume for the
Principal Investigator?

• “A concise resume for the Principal Investigator and all key 
personnel, including a list of relevant publications (if any), 
should be included. All resumes will count toward the 
appropriate page limitation, see Section 3.1. Offerors 
must identify any foreign national(s) expected to be 
involved on proposed project [including direct employees, 
subcontractors and consultants], their country of origin, type 
of visa or work permit under which they are performing, and 
an explanation of their anticipated level of involvement on 
this project.”

See page 9 of pre-solicitation
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Frequently asked 
questions (FAQ)
• I would like to hire person X to be the PI if we win 

the award, but they are not currently an employee. 
This would be a ”contingent hire” - Can I do that?

• Do I need to include a Letter of Commitment for a 
contingent hire? If so, where does that go?

• Some agencies allow co-PIs. Does DHS allow co-
PIs?

• On page B2 – the actual title used is Principal 
Investigator/Project Manager. I could be the Project 
Manager, but I don’t have the technical background 
– could I list myself as the Principal Investigator?
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Labor Rates?

Many agencies recommend referencing  the Bureau of 
Labor Statistics (BLS) for rates
• Rates vary by location and role
• The best starting link:

https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes_nat.htm
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https://www.bls.gov/
https://www.bls.gov/
https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes_nat.htm


Occupational Employment and Wage Statistics
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LINK: https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes_nat.htm

https://www.bls.gov/oes/current/oes_nat.htm


Computer and 
Mathematical 
Occupations

Click on link of interest



There’s LOTS of information – keep scrolling! 
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Importance of Other 
Key Personnel?
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What does the term Covered individual mean?



What is a Covered Individual?

• For the purposes of the 24.1 Solicitation DHS considers all 
Key Personnel to be Covered Individuals. The term 
"covered individual" means an individual who contributes in 
a substantive, meaningful way to the scientific development 
or execution of a research and development project proposed 
to be carried out with a research and development award 
from a federal research agency.

 See page B-1 in the Pre-Solicitation
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What is the difference between a 
consultant and a subcontractor?
• A consultant is typically an individual that is hired because of 

his or her expertise. The agreement is with the individual.
• A subcontractor is typically an organization such as a university, 

another small business, a large business, a Federally Funded 
Research and Development Center (FFRDC). Even though you 
will be involving one or more individuals – the agreement is with 
the organization.
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Frequently asked questions (FAQ)?
• Can a consultant or subcontractor be considered a “key personnel”?
• What percentage of labor on a Phase I contract can be 

subcontracted? Is this based on hours or dollars?
• Is fee considered in this calculation?
• Do you have to include the resume of the consultant, if their role 

doesn’t merit them being considered a “covered individual”?
• Where do resumes go in the proposal?
• Do I have to request Foreign Relationship information (Attachment 3 

in Pre-solicitation) for consultants and subcontractors if they are 
NOT covered personnel? 
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What is Discretionary Technical 
and Business Assistance (TABA)?

•  Many agencies provide support from a 
vendor to help Phase I or Phase II award 
winners with assistance in the 
commercialization of SBIR/STTR technology

• TABA is an option that has been added 
which enables companies to select their 
own support vendor

• DHS will allow an additional $6,500 for you 
to select a vendor of your choice to provide 
this support

• This must be requested with your proposal 
and is in addition to the $175,000 for the 5 
months of concept development
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Thanks for joining us today
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If you have never written a proposal before and would like to 
receive mentoring assistance, please complete the registration 
form

Please take a moment to provide your feedback on today’s 
webinar https://forms.office.com/r/uvHuZWS5x4

See the website for Phase 0 SBIR program for DHS!
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https://forms.office.com/r/uvHuZWS5x4
https://dhsphase0.dawnbreaker.com/
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